No. 73018-5-I

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

GABRIELLE NGUYEN-ALUSKAR,

Appellant

v.

The LASIK Vision Institute, LLC; GORDON JENSEN, M.D., a physician; and JOHN/JANE DOE PHYSICIANS 1-10,

Respondents

APPELLANT BRIEF

BENDELE & MENDEL, PLLC

By: Levi Bendele, WSBA No. 26411

Colin Hutchinson-Flaming, WSBA No. 45294

BENDELE & MENDEL, PLLC 200 West Mercer Street, Ste 411

Seattle, WA 98119

Attorneys for Appellant

I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- No. 1: Trial court's order granting fees and costs to Respondent LASIK
- No. 2: Trial court's order denying request for CR 56(f) continuance
- No. 3: Trial court's order denying reconsideration of order granting summary judgment to Respondents
- No. 4: Trial court's failure to reverse its order granting summary judgment to Respondents

II. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- No. 1: Did the trial court abuse its discretion by awarding fees and costs to Respondent LASIK?
- No. 2: Did the trial court abuse its discretion in denying request for CR 56(f) continuance?
- No. 3: Did the trial court abuse its discretion in denying reconsideration of order granting summary judgment for Respondents?
- No. 4: Did the trial court err in failing to reverse its order granting summary judgment for Respondents?

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Background of Claim

This matter arises from treatment provided by Respondents The LASIK Vision Institute, LLC; Gordon Jensen, MD, and John/Jane Doe physicians 1-10 (Respondents) to Appellant Gabrielle Nguyen-Aluskar. Appellant consulted with and agreed to undergo the procedure with

1

¹ Clerk's Papers (CP) at 1-8.

Respondents.² During the consultation, Respondents offered to include an enhancement procedure for \$895 to correct any deterioration in Appellant's eyesight in the years following the initial LASIK procedure.³ Respondents referred to the enhancement procedure as "falcon-vision" enhancement procedure.⁴ Respondents did not discuss the "falcon-vision" procedure further, and based upon Respondents' representations, Appellant purchased the "falcon-vision" enhancement procedure option.⁵ In February 2005, Respondents performed a LASIK corrective procedure on Appellant's eyes, which resulted in 20/20 vision.⁶

In the years that followed, as is typical with LASIK patients, Appellant's eyesight began to deteriorate again. She returned to the Respondents, seeking to have them perform the "falcon-vision" enhancement procedure. In Respondents' Communication Log, Respondents or Respondents' agent noted that Appellant's "left cornea is extremely thin @ 409 and that she is not really a candidate for an enhancement."

² CP 169-71, 179-80; 231-38; 260-64; 328-31.

³ CP 169-71, 179-80; 231-38; 260-64; 328-31.

⁴ CP 169-71, 179-80; 231-38; 260-64; 328-31.

⁵ CP 169-71, 179-80; 231-38; 260-64; 328-31.

⁶ CP 169-71, 179-80; 231-38; 260-64; 328-31.

⁷ CP 169-71, 179-80; 231-38; 260-64; 328-31.

⁸ CP 169-71, 179-80.

⁹ CP 169-71, 179-80.

Despite acknowledging Appellant's "extremely thin cornea," Respondents agreed to perform the "falcon-vision" enhancement in January of 2012. 10 Prior to the surgery Respondents elected to have Appellant sign a one-page, generic consent form, which referenced the consent form Appellant signed in 2005. 11 Appellant signed the one-page consent form after receiving eye drops from Respondents, which inhibited her vision. 12 Appellant was not presented with the consent form prior to receiving the eye drops from Respondents. 13

On January 27, 2012, Respondents performed the "falcon-vision" enhancement on Appellant.¹⁴ Respondents did not inform Appellant that she had dangerously thin corneas that would leave her highly susceptible to many complications from the "falcon-vision" enhancement procedure.¹⁵ Respondents did not discuss with Appellant that she would require reading glasses after the procedure.¹⁶

After completion of the "falcon-vision" enhancement procedure, Appellant's vision deteriorated further and she has suffered from blurred vision, severe dry eyes, refraction, lagophthalmos, astigmatism, throbbing

¹⁰ CP 169-71, 179-80; 231-38; 260-64; 328-31.

¹¹ CP 74; 169-71, 179-80; 231-38; 260-64; 328-31.

¹² CP 169-71, 179-80; 231-38; 260-64; 328-31.

¹³ CP 169-71, 179-80; 231-38; 260-64; 328-31.

¹⁴ CP 1-8; 169-71, 179-80; 231-38; 260-64; 328-31.

¹⁵ CP 169-71, 179-80; 231-38; 260-64; 328-31.

¹⁶ CP 169-71, 179-80; 231-38; 260-64; 328-31.

pain, migraines, among others.¹⁷ Appellant's eyesight is significantly worse than it was prior to the "falcon-vision" enhancement procedure.¹⁸ As a result of her injuries, Appellant was unable to complete a loan transaction that would have earned her approximately \$320,000 in commission.

B. Respondent LASIK's Request for Costs

1. First Lawsuit

Appellant, her husband Ghokan Aluskar, and their marital community originally filed suit against Respondents on January 13, 2013.¹⁹ They alleged multiple causes of action for incidents outlined above.²⁰ Importantly, Ghokan Aluskar also asserted a claim for past, present, and future damages to the marital community and loss of consortium.²¹

2. Appellants Complied With Discovery Requests

During the initial litigation, Appellant and her husband complied with reasonable discovery requests. Both supplied responses to interrogatories, requests for production, requests for statement of damages,

¹⁷ CP 169-71, 179-80; 231-38; 260-64; 328-31.

¹⁸ CP 169-71, 179-80; 231-38; 328-31.

¹⁹ CP 338-End. Appellant filed Supplemental Designation of Clerk's Papers, but Plaintiff does not have specific page numbers at the time of this filing.

²⁰ CP 338-End.

²¹ CP 338-End.

and they executed stipulations and authorizations to release medical records.²²

3. Appellant Moved for Voluntary Non-Suit

During the course of litigation, for personal reasons, Mr. Aluskar decided to walk away from the loss of consortium claim.²³ A dismissal of former Mr. Aluskar and the loss of consortium claim was considered, however, voluntarily dismissing the lawsuit and refiling a new complaint that did not in any way mention Mr. Aluskar or the loss of consortium claim was preferred.²⁴

Appellant moved for a voluntary non-suit on December 11, 2013.²⁵

Appellant notified Respondents and the Court that Appellant intended to re-file the matter.²⁶ Neither Respondent objected.²⁷ Neither Respondent asked for costs.²⁸ The Order for Voluntary Non-Suit Without Prejudice was signed by Judge Ramsdell on December 23, 2013, with no opposition and no mention of costs or conditions should the matter be refiled.²⁹

//

//

²² CP 338-End.

²³ CP 338-End.

²⁴ CP 338-End.

²⁵ CP 338-End.

²⁶ CP 338-End.

²⁷ CP 338-End.

²⁸ CP 338-End.

²⁹ CP 338-End.

4. Second Lawsuit Involves Reduced Parties and Claims Asserted

On February 21, 2014, Appellant, individually, filed a lawsuit alleging multiple causes of action against Respondents.³⁰ Appellant's second complaint contained key differences from the first complaint, including the removal of Mr. Aluskar and any claims for loss of consortium.³¹

5. Respondent LASIK's Motion for Costs

Respondent LASIK alleged the following costs: legal messenger costs (\$105.00); FedEx costs (\$121.78); legal research costs (\$190.25); jury verdict research costs (\$140.00); Appellant's medical records (\$237.90); photocopies (\$580.30); expert-related costs (\$2,450.00); parking costs (\$7.00); and costs related to background information about Appellant (\$20.70). Respondent LASIK alleged these costs were reasonable and amount to \$3,875.42, and \$200 in statutory attorney fees, for a total of \$4,075.42. Respondents have made no claim or showing that any of these line item costs will not be used in the current action or have no value with respect to the current lawsuit. Specifically, Respondent LASIK requested \$2,450.00 for expert related costs, including

³⁰ CP 338-End.

³¹ CP 338-End.

³² CP 338-End.

³³ CP 338-End.

a review of Appellant's medical records by Dr. McKillop, which is the same expert Respondent utilized in support of Respondent LASIK's motion for summary judgment in this action.³⁴

The trial court entered an unclear order that both indicated that it granted and also denied Respondent LASIK's motion.³⁵ On December 12, 2014, when granting Respondent LASIK's motion for summary judgment, the trial court indicated that it intended to grant Respondent LASIK's prior motion for costs and awarded \$4,075.24.³⁶

C. Appellant's Request for a CR 56(f) Continuance

Respondents each filed for summary judgment, alleging Appellant did not have any expert testimony to support her claims.³⁷ As such, Appellant scheduled a meeting with Dr. Bensinger for purposes of drafting a declaration in opposition of Respondents' motions.³⁸

1. Background

Prior to filing suit, in 2012, Appellant consulted with and retained Richard Bensinger, MD, a Board-Certified Ophthalmologist who is licensed to practice in the State of Washington, in order to provide an opinion regarding the care that Appellant received from the

³⁴ CP 25-43; 99-102; 338-End

³⁵ CP 338-End.

³⁶ CD 330 40

³⁷ CP 25-43; 115-125.

³⁸ CP 170-71, 179-80; 260-264.

Respondents.³⁹ In 2012, Dr. Bensinger reviewed Plaintiff's medical treatment records, examined the Plaintiff, and provided opinions regarding Defendants' medical treatment, which precipitated Plaintiff filing this lawsuit.⁴⁰ Dr. Bensinger's opinions supported the allegations contained in Plaintiff's Complaint.⁴¹

2. 2014 Meeting with Dr. Bensinger

However, when Appellant was preparing her Opposition to Respondents' summary judgment motions, Dr. Bensinger informed Appellant that he could not serve as a witness in her lawsuit.⁴² Appellant was entirely reliant upon the opinions provided by Dr. Bensinger and was then left without an expert to oppose Respondents' motions.⁴³

3. Request for CR 56(f) Continuance

As such, Appellant requested a short continuance to locate a new expert to provide testimony regarding the standard of care and informed consent prior to Appellant's "falcon-vision" enhancement surgery.⁴⁴ To support the requested continuance, counsel for Appellant explained that Dr. Bensinger's withdraw was a surprise and that Appellant was reliant on

³⁹ CP 170-71, 179-80; 260-64.

⁴⁰ CP 170-71, 179-80; 260-64.

⁴¹ CP 170-71, 179-80; 260-64.

⁴² CP 170-71, 179-80; 260-64.

⁴³ CP 170-71, 179-80; 260-64.

⁴⁴ CP 172-74, 179-80.

the opinion that she obtained from Dr. Bensinger dating back to 2012.⁴⁵ Counsel indicated that any subsequent expert's opinion would address the standard of care and informed consent that Appellant received at the hands of Respondents, which would create an issue of material fact that would prohibit an order of summary judgment in Respondents' favor.⁴⁶ The trial court denied Appellant's request and granted Respondents' summary judgment motions.⁴⁷

D. Appellant's Motion for Reconsideration

Shortly after the trial court granted Respondents' motions for summary judgment, Appellant again met with Dr. Bensinger, who clarified that a miscommunication had occurred, which led him to believe that he could not serve as her expert. Appellant submitted a motion for reconsideration within 10 days of the trial court's summary judgment order and included the Declaration of Dr. Bensinger, who opined that Respondents' failed to obtain the proper informed consent prior conducting the "falcon-vision" enhancement procedure and failed to provide reasonably prudent medical care. Dr. Bensinger also outlined that last-minute misunderstanding that led him to withdraw and

⁴⁵ CP 169-74, 179-80.

⁴⁶ CP 169-74, 179-80.

⁴⁷ CP 230-42

⁴⁸ CP 243-56; 260-64; 328-331.

⁴⁹ CP 260-64.

Appellant's expert witness on the eve of the summary judgment Opposition due date. 50

Beyond providing the Declaration of Dr. Bensinger, counsel for Appellant also provided a list of additional medical experts that Appellant contacted once Dr. Bensinger withdrew:

- Michael Steiner, MD
- John McDowall, OD
- Niraj Patal, MD
- Gary Chung, MD
- Jay Rudd, MD
- Timothy Carey, MD.⁵¹

Appellant was not dilatory once the miscommunication with Dr. Bensinger occurred and worked diligently to secure the opinion of another expert.⁵² However, counsel for Appellant ceased this endeavor once the miscommunication with Dr. Bensinger was corrected.⁵³ The trial court, reviewed and therefore considered Dr. Bensinger's Declaration but denied Appellant's motion for reconsideration and upheld its previous order granting Respondents' motions for summary judgment.⁵⁴

⁵⁰ CP 260-64.

⁵¹ CP 243-56.

⁵² CP 243-56.

⁵³ CP 243-56

⁵⁴ CP 335-37

IV. ARGUMENT

A. Legal Standard

1. Summary Judgment

A summary judgment that fully determines a case is a final, appealable judgment. On appeal, the appellate court decides the case on a de novo basis, engaging in the same analysis as the trial court. *Roger Crane & Associates, Inc. v. Felice*, 74 Wn. App. 769, 875 P.2d 705 (1994).

Both the law and the facts will be reconsidered by the appellate court. *Brouillet v. Cowles Pub. Co.*, 114 Wn.2d 788, 791 P.2d 526 (1990). Any findings of fact entered by the trial court will be considered superfluous and will be disregarded by the appellate court. *Redding v. Virginia Mason Medical Center*, 75 Wn. App. 424, 878 P.2d 483 (1994).

If a motion for summary judgment is granted, the order granting the motion is subject to reconsideration. *Applied Indus. Materials Corp. v. Melton*, 74 Wn. App. 73, 872 P.2d 87 (1994). After a written judgment has been formally entered, the judgment is presumptively final but may be challenged at the trial court level by a motion to reconsider (CR 59) or by a motion to vacate (CR 60). *Lane v. Brown & Haley*, 81 Wn. App. 102, 912 P.2d 1040 (1996).

On reconsideration of summary judgment, the trial court may, in its discretion, allow the parties to submit additional materials on the issue of whether the case presents a genuine issue of material fact. Tegland, 4 Wash. Prac., Rules Practice CR 56 (6th ed.). If the trial court chooses to do so, any appeal on the propriety of entering a summary judgment will be decided **on the basis of all materials considered by the trial court**, **including the new materials offered on reconsideration**. *Martini v. Post*, 178 Wn. App. 153, 313 P.3d 473 (2013) (new evidence submitted on reconsideration created a genuine issue of material fact, precluding summary judgment) (emphasis added).

2. Abuse of Discretion

The proper standard for abuse of discretion is whether discretion is exercised on untenable grounds or for untenable reasons, considering the purposes of the trial court's discretion. *Coggle v. Snow*, 56 Wn. App. 499, 784 P.2d 554 (1990).

B. The Trial Court Abused Its Discretion in Awarding Fees and Costs to Defendant LASIK

CR 41(a)(1)(B) allows a plaintiff, before resting, upon motion, at any time before resting, to voluntarily dismiss the action. However, CR 41(d) states

[i]f a plaintiff who has once dismissed an action in any court commences an action based upon or including the

same claim against the same defendant, the court may make such order for the payment of taxable costs of the action previously dismissed as it may deem proper and may stay the proceedings in the action until the plaintiff has complied with the order.

The trial court has discretion to award costs as it may deem proper. CR 41(d).

Here Appellant sought a voluntary non-suit of the initial action under CR 41(a)(1)(B) so the originally complaint concerning Mr. Aluskar could effectively be voided and he could be removed completely from the current action, the loss of consortium claim dismissed, and the issues narrowed. In the second action, Appellant's husband is not a party and there are no claims for loss of consortium. The reduction in parties and claims presented actually benefits benefited Respondents, yet they sought to punish Appellant by seeking costs and fees that were never requested at the time of the voluntary dismissal.

In fact, Respondents were specifically informed Appellant would refile, yet they never opposed the nonsuit in any way whatsoever. They never indicated they would incur any costs as a result. Appellant may have changed course had there been an objection or an allegation that Respondents would seek costs. Appellant was diligent in prosecuting the original action and participated in discovery as discussed above. As such,

there was no good cause and were no tenable grounds for the award of such costs to Respondents

 Johnson v. Horizon Distinguishable as Costs There Were Levied Due to Plaintiff's Repeated Failure to Prosecute his Own Action

Respondents relied on *Johnson v. Horizon*, 148 Wn. App. 628 201 P.3d 346 (2009), as authority for the trial court to assess costs. The plaintiff in *Johnson* sued Horizon under the Jones Act for alleged injuries he incurred while working on a Horizon ship. Respondents failed to identify the facts and reasoning behind the Court's ruling in *Johnson*.

In the trial court, defendant Horizon listed the following facts:

- a. The sole cause for the non-suit and re-filing tactic was Johnson's own failure to timely prosecute the previous action due to his admitted methamphetamine use.
- b. Horizon had to compel the Johnson to attend his own deposition.
- c. At his deposition, Johnson admitted to methamphetamine use throughout the case.
- d. Johnson's previous attorneys sought continuances on his behalf because Johnson did not respond to their calls or letters or get him into a drug treatment program.
- e. In July 2006, Johnson's counsel sought a second continuance, so that Johnson could get treatment for drug dependence. The parties stipulated to a 90-day continuance.

- f. Johnson's attorneys withdrew from the case; Johnson requested a third continuance, which the court refused, so Johnson filed for a voluntary dismissal.
- g. Horizon incurred various costs, including charges for plaintiff's IME, court reporter fees, and witness fees for the deposition of one of plaintiff's physicians.⁵⁵

In *Johnson*, the initial trial court "bore witness to the repeated failure of the plaintiff to timely prosecute the previous action," and the court specifically warned the plaintiff that under CR 41(d) "if plaintiff commenced another action on the same or similar claims...taxable costs of this action should be imposed on plaintiff prior to plaintiff prosecuting such claims in the future." *Id.* at 9.

The facts in *Johnson* are vastly different than those in the present case. Here, Appellant diligently prosecuted her initial lawsuit. Appellant participated in discovery. Appellant signed stipulations and authorizations for the release of her medical records. (Appellant did oppose subpoenas for employment and education records that she felt were beyond the scope of discovery.) Respondents have not demonstrated that Appellant was trying to abuse the judicial system, as was the case in *Johnson*. Critically, as further discussed below, Respondents did not oppose the nonsuit or Appellant refiling current action, Respondents did not allege they would incur any costs as a result of the nonsuit and cost of refiling the current

⁵⁵ CP 338-End (Exhibit 5 to Plaintiff's Opposition to Defendant LASIK's Motion for Costs – Defendant Horizon's Motion for Costs)

action, and they did not ask the court to include any language regarding the taxation of costs in its order granting the nonsuit. Accordingly, the trial court abused its discretion in awarding Respondents' motion for costs.

2. An Award of Costs would Amount to a Windfall to Respondents

A large portion of Respondents' Cost Bill, \$2,450.00, consisted of a medical expert's review of records. Respondents have used the same expert and record review in the current action. Respondents also allege costs for obtaining medical records, photographs, and photocopies. Respondents have used the very same medical records, photographs, and photocopies in the current action. The award of costs to recoup these expenses, especially the expert expenses, has resulted in a windfall to Respondents and punitive measures to Appellant.

A hypothetical scenario might add clarity to Appellant's argument. Consider a 25th High School Reunion scheduled for the first Friday night in June at the high school gym. Expense for decorations, beverages, a banner, and perhaps even a party coordinator are incurred. As sometimes happens in life, the reunion had to be changed to next day on Saturday night. In this situation, there is virtually no additional expense because the date for the reunion was changed. They can use the same decorations and

banner. They can serve the same beverages. The party is already coordinated such that no additional expense is incurred in that regard.

Here, Respondents actually benefited by having initial discovery responses from Appellant, as well as a reduction in the number of parties and claims presented in the current lawsuit. Respondents have already selected at least one expert and they have the advantage of already having his review of records and opinions. Just as in the reunion hypothetical, Respondents have not been harmed and have suffered no prejudice by Appellant voluntarily dismissing her first lawsuit and filing the second action. Accordingly, the trial court abused its discretion in awarding Respondents' motion for costs.

3. Respondents Failed to Object—Appellant Relied Upon No Objection

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