No. 73018-5-I

# COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

#### GABRIELLE NGUYEN-ALUSKAR,

Appellant,

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

Dr. Bensinger's only other apparent reference to the medical record are with regard to Nguyen-Aluskar's alleged medical condition prior to and subsequent to surgery. CP 263-264. Because Nguyen-Aluskar did not submit any supporting evidence demonstrating her medical condition at either point in time, it appears that these references themselves are based on what was relayed to Dr. Bensinger by Nguyen-

Aluskar herself. Even if they were based on some medical records that have not been produced to defendants or submitted to the Court, negligence cannot be inferred from the mere fact that Nguyen-Aluskar experienced complications following a medical procedure. *Guile*, 70 Wn App. at 26-27 (*citing Watson v. Hockett*, 107 Wn.2d 158, 161, 727 P.2d 669 (1986) ("[A] doctor will not normally be held liable under a fault based system simply because the patient suffered a bad result")).

Because Dr. Bensinger's opinions are based on the self-serving statements of Nguyen-Aluskar herself, they do not constitute evidence sufficient to overcome the motion for summary judgment.

d. Dr. Bensinger's declaration is insufficient to demonstrate the existence of a material issue of fact on plaintiff's informed consent claim.

Dr. Bensinger's declaration fails to create an issue of material fact on Nguyen-Aluskar's informed consent claim for the additional reason that it does not satisfy those elements of an informed consent claim for which expert testimony is mandated.

As discussed above, expert testimony on an informed consent claim is required to establish the existence, nature, and likelihood of occurrence of the risk at issue. RCW 7.70.050(3). *See, e.g. Seybold*, 105 Wn. App. at 682-83; *Ruffer*, 56 Wn. App. at 631; *Adams*, 37 Wn. App. at

657. Expert testimony is similarly required to establish the potential complications and benefits of treatment and the recognized alternative forms of treatment. *See*, *e.g.*, RCW 7.70.050(3); *Seybold*, 105 Wn. App. at 682. This threshold expert testimony is necessary before a jury may determine whether the risk in question is one that a reasonable patient would consider in deciding on treatment. *Smith*, 100 Wn.2d at 33-34.

Here, Dr. Bensinger offered the bare conclusion that Dr. Jensen "failed to give [Nguyen-Aluskar] informed consent and failed to notify her of the potential and known risks of the procedure." CP 263. However, he failed to identify any specific risk as a "material" risk, and failed to identify the probability of any occurrence of any specific risk. *Id.* The only specific purported risk discussed in his declaration is the possibility that Nguyen-Aluskar would "require reading glasses upon completion of the enhancement procedure." *Id.* He failed to identify this as a "material" risk of treatment, failed to explain why it was material, and failed to discuss the scientific nature of the risk, *i.e.* its likelihood or probability of occurrence. Simply identifying the risk, with no discussion of materiality, is insufficient. As this Court has held:

As has been shown, unless the **risk** is serious—whether characterized as grave, medically significant, or reasonably foreseeable—and unless expert testimony can establish its existence, nature, and likelihood of occurrence, the presence of the

**risk**, as a matter of law, **is not material** and **no duty** of disclosure manifests in the health care provider.

Ruffer. 56 Wn. App. at 631 (emphasis in original).

Our Supreme Court's decision in *Smith*, 100 Wn.2d 26, is also instructive on this issue. In that case, the evidence established that the physician had not disclosed several risks of a procedure that were referenced in the *Physician's Desk Reference* (PDR), including that complication that the plaintiff subsequently experienced. The trial court concluded that the plaintiff failed to prove that any of the risks referenced in the PDR were in fact material, noting in particular that the plaintiff failed to provide sufficient expert testimony on the issue. Our Supreme Court agreed and affirmed. *Id.* at 28-29.

Here as well, Nguyen-Aluskar offered no expert testimony, by Dr. Bensinger or anyone else, regarding the materiality of any of the complications she claims to have experienced. Dr. Bensinger's declaration also entirely failed to address the possible alternative forms of treatment, and the risks and benefits of those alternatives. RCW 7.70.050(3). See, e.g. Seybold, 105 Wn. App. at 682-83.

This lack of adequate expert testimony was and is fatal to her informed consent claim. The order granting summary judgment to LVI should be affirmed on this basis as well.

# e. Dr. Bensinger's declaration is insufficient to demonstrate a material issue of fact on plaintiff's breach of standard of care claim.

Even assuming that Dr. Bensinger's declaration was sufficient to overcome summary judgment on LVI's informed consent claim, it is manifestly insufficient to create an issue of material fact as to the claim for medical negligence.

As discussed above, a plaintiff asserting a medical negligence claim must demonstrate that the defendant failed to "exercise the degree of care, skill, and learning expected of a reasonably prudent health care provider at that time in the profession or class to which [s]he belongs, in the State of Washington, acting in the same or similar circumstances." RCW 7.70.040(1). Second, a plaintiff must establish that the asserted negligence was the proximate cause of the injuries alleged. *See Morinaga*, 85 Wn. App. at 831. Both of these elements must be established with competent expert testimony. *Id. See McLaughlin*, 112 Wn.2d at 836.

Of particular significance here, the case law is in unison that a party may not conflate a medical negligence claim with an informed consent claim, as the two claims address different duties owed by the practitioner to the patient, and carry different substantive burdens. *See Harbeson v. Parke-Davis, Inc.*, 98 Wn.2d 460, 469-71, 656 P.2d 483 (1983) (discussing at length different standards imposed on healthcare

providers under the statute). 19 Indeed, the case law has recognized repeatedly that allegations supporting a failure to secure informed consent claim will not support a medical negligence claim, or vice versa. See Gustav v. Seattle Urological Associates, 90 Wn. App. 789, 945 P.2d 319 (1998) (referring to the claims, stating "[a]llegations supporting one will normally not support the other"). 20 Here, Dr. Bensinger's only allegation as to Dr. Jensen's care was that he failed to appropriately discuss the risks of treatment with Nguyen-Aluskar. CP 263. Dr. Bensinger did not contend that the enhancement procedure was not indicated. He did not contend that Dr. Jensen fell below the standard of care in his technical performance of the procedure. He did not articulate what the standard of care required. He contended only that the procedure should not have been performed unless Nguyen-Aluskar insisted on proceeding after being fully informed of the risks of the procedure. *Id.* This allegation could only be relevant to an informed consent claim, not a medical negligence claim.

<sup>19</sup> See, e.g., Stewart-Graves, 162 Wn.2d 115, 170 P.3d 1151 (2007); Shellenbarger v. Brigman, 101 Wn. App. 339, 348, 3 P.3d 211 (2000).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> See, e.g., Nicholson v. Deal, 52 Wn. App. 814, 821, 764 P.2d 1007 (1988) ("A doctor's liability for failure to obtain informed consent is founded, not upon a violation of a standard of care among the medical community, but on failure to disclose material information to a patient"); *Thomas v. Wilfac, Inc.*, 65 Wn. App. 255, 261, 828 P.2d 597 (1992) ("[i]nformed consent and medical negligence are alternate theories of liability"). See also RCW 4.24.290 (actions based on professional negligence, "in no event shall... apply to an action based on the failure to obtain the informed consent of a patient").

In addition, it is notable that plaintiff has failed to address the dismissal of her medical negligence claim in her briefing to this Court, and has not attempted to persuade the Court as to how or why Dr. Bensinger's declaration creates an issue of material fact as to the medical negligence claim. As such, any assignment of error as to the dismissal of these claims is waived. As our Supreme Court has held, "contentions that are not supported by argument or authority" will not be considered on appeal. *Talps v. Arreola*, 83 Wn.2d 655, 657, 521 P.2d 206 (1974).<sup>21</sup>

Nguyen-Aluskar's medical negligence claim fails on this basis.

f. Dr. Bensinger's declaration is insufficient to demonstrate the existence of a material issue of fact on any of plaintiff's remaining claims.

Finally, Dr. Bensinger's declaration did not address the elements of any of Nguyen-Aluskar's remaining claims, including those claims brought pursuant to Washington's Consumer Protection Act, for "extreme and outrageous conduct," for "Fraud and Misrepresentation," for "Negligent Training, Management and Supervision," and for Failure to Warn." Neither has Nguyen-Aluskar discussed, or even mentioned these

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> See, e.g., Cowiche Canyon 118 Wn.2d at 809 (argument unsupported by citation to the record or authority will not be considered); Nakatani, 109 Wn. App. 622 (the Court of Appeals does not consider arguments raised for the first time in a reply brief); RAP 10.3(a)(6).

claims in her briefing to this Court. Accordingly, any assignment of error as to the dismissal of these claims is also waived. *Talps*, 83 Wn.2d at 657.

Nguyen-Aluskar's additional claims fail on this basis as well.

# C. Dismissal of Nguyen-Aluskar's claims against LVI was appropriate pursuant to CR 41(b).

Even if this Court held that Nguyen-Aluskar had demonstrated the existence of an issue of material fact sufficient to reverse the trial court's grant of summary judgment to LVI, CR 41(b) provides an additional basis for the dismissal of Nguyen-Aluskar's claims against LVI.

CR 41(b) provides as follows:

**(b) Involuntary Dismissal; Effect.** For failure of the plaintiff to prosecute or to comply with these rules or any order of the court, a defendant may move for dismissal of an action or of any claim against him or her.

Id. This rule provides courts with authority to order an involuntary dismissal for the plaintiff's failure to comply with the rules or orders of the court. Woodhead v. Discount Waterbeds, Inc., 78 Wn. App. 125, 129, 896 P.2d 66 (1995). Courts also have the discretionary authority to manage their own affairs to achieve the orderly and expeditious disposition of cases. Id. See also Jewell v. Kirkland, 50 Wn. App. 813, 817, 750 P.2d 1307 (1988) (the trial court is vested with the authority to impose reasonable sanctions for the breach of reasonable rules).

While Washington Courts do not resort to dismissal lightly,

"where... a court has found that a party has acted in willful and deliberate disregard of reasonable and necessary court orders and the efficient administration of justice and has prejudiced the other side by doing so, dismissal has been upheld as justified." *Woodhead*, 78 Wn. App. at 129-130. Disregard of a court order without reasonable excuse or justification is deemed willful. *Id. See also Alexander v. Food Services of America, Inc.*, 76 Wn. App. 425 (1994) (failure of plaintiff to attend trial constituted failure to comply with scheduling order and justified CR 41(b) dismissal).

The court's decision in *Jewell*, 50 Wn. App. 813, is instructive here. In that case, the trial court ordered the City to certify the record to Superior Court, and ordered plaintiff Jewell to pay the cost of preparing the record. *Id.* at 815. The City's attorney sent a letter to the plaintiff's attorney requesting \$2,800 for the cost of preparing the record. *Id.* at 816. Ten days later, the City's attorney sent another letter requesting payment and warning that the City would move to dismiss the lawsuit if funds were not received. *Id.* Funds were not received, the City moved to dismiss, and the trial court granted the motion pursuant to the authority provided under CR 41(b). *Id.* In upholding the dismissal, the Court of Appeals reasoned that "The administration of justice will be best served by a policy of treating court orders as meaning what they say and requiring strict compliance therewith." *Id.* at 822.

Here, the trial court granted LVI's Motion for Costs on June 10, 2014, over 5 months prior to the hearing on LVI's Motion to Dismiss. LVI's several follow-up requests for payment went ignored. CP 78-86.

LVI reasonably incurred significant costs to defend plaintiff's initial action. Plaintiff chose to prevent trial by requesting and obtaining a voluntary dismissal. After plaintiff re-filed a substantively identical lawsuit, this Court ordered the plaintiff to reimburse LVI the costs incurred in the original action. CP 446-49. At the time of the hearing on LVI's Motion to Dismiss, over five months later, Nguyen-Aluskar had failed to comply with the Court's order or to respond to LVI's numerous requests for compliance. CP 86. That failure forced LVI to incur the time and additional expense to pursue this issue with the trial court.

In response to LVI's request for dismissal pursuant to CR 41(b), plaintiff raised only a single argument: that the "Order Granting Defendants' Motion for Costs and Denying Discovery Stay as to Plaintiffs," did not actually grant LVI's motion for costs. CP 178. In support of that argument, Nguyen-Aluskar relied on a snippet of text in the Order that would appear to any reasonable reader to be a scrivener's error. CP 446-448.

During the hearing on LVI's Motion for Summary Judgment pursuant to CR 56, and Motion for Dismissal pursuant to CR 41(b), the

trial court expressed dismay at Nguyen-Aluskar's disregard of the Order it has issued several months prior. As the Court stated:

As to the CR 41 dismissal, I am greatly concerned about the interpretation of my order. Now, it seems very clear to me that there was, at most, a clerical error. You have the caption. You have the footer, "Order Granting Defendants' Motion for Costs and Denying Discovery Stay."

\*\*\*

And to completely ignore the sentence before the one [Nguyen-Aluskar] quote[s] is just amazing to me, particularly since I entered this order in June and I have been sitting here and it is now December and at no point did anyone ever contact the Court if they were confused about this order. There was never a motion to clarify. There was never – it was never brought back before this Court.

If there was true confusion and people did not understand what this order meant, I see no responses to the letters. I see no requests to the Court to clarify. Instead, what I see is dilatory conduct.

VRP 28:10-29:6. The trial court further indicated that Nguyen-Aluskar had failed to comply with the Order granting costs, but declined to enter a dismissal order pursuant to CR 41 because it was granting dismissal of all claims pursuant to CR 56. VRP 29:15-19.

Parties are not entitled to ignore trial court orders that they do not like, and this Court may affirm the trial court on any correct ground. *See, e,g., Nast,* 107 Wn.2d at 308; *Heath,* 106 Wn. App at 515. In the event that this Court holds that an issue of material fact warrants reversal of the summary judgment dismissal of any of Nguyen-Aluskar's claims against LVI, LVI requests that the dismissal of those claims be affirmed pursuant

to CR 41(b).

## D. The trial court's order granting CR 41(d) costs to LVI should be affirmed.

Nguyen-Aluskar's final assignment of error is with respect to the trial court's June 10, 2010 Order granting costs to LVI – the Order which, as discussed above, Nguyen-Aluskar chose to ignore for several months.

As an initial matter, Nguyen-Aluskar failed to designate this issue in her notice of appeal. CP \_\_\_\_\_. Under RAP 2.4 an appellate court will review "the decision or parts of the decision designated in the notice of appeal." When a party fails to include an issue in its notice of appeal the appellate court may, in its discretion, decline to entertain the argument on that issue. *See Hiner v. Bridgestone, Inc.*, 138 Wn.2d 248, 262-64, 978 P.2d 505 (1999). LVI requests that this Court exercise its discretion and decline to consider Nguyen-Aluskar's assignment of error with respect to the order that she willfully and deliberately ignored for several months.

Alternatively, LVI requests that this Court affirm the cost award on the basis that the trial court acted appropriately in granting costs. Such relief is expressly permitted in circumstances such as those here presented..

Nguyen-Aluskar voluntarily dismissed her initial lawsuit pursuant to CR 41. CP 58-59. That rule allows a plaintiff broad authority to

voluntarily dismiss a lawsuit without prejudice. *See* CR 41(a)(4). Several weeks later, Nguyen-Aluskar commenced a nearly-identical action. Other than the omission of Nguyen-Aluskar's husband as a plaintiff, and his loss of consortium claim, the Complaint in the second action is exactly the same as the Complaint in the first. CP 1-8, 49-56.

#### CR 41(d), provides as follows:

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